# THE CONSTITUTION ASABA NATIONAL ASSOCIATION USA, INC.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

		PAGE
PREAMBLE A	NTENT ND OBJECTIVES	5 - 6
OATH OF ALL	EGIANCE	- 6
ARTICLE 1		7 - 8
SECTION 1.2 SECTION 1.3 SECTION 1.4	NAME OF ASSOCIATION MOTTO MISSION STATEMENT PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF BUSINESS CHANGE OF ADDRESS	
ARTICLE 2		8
SECTION 2.1	Purpose	
ARTICLE 3		9 -11
MEMBERSHIP		
SECTION 3.1		
	REQUIREMENTS OF MEMBERSHIP	
SECTION 3.3		
SECTION 3.4	Annual Dues	
ARTICLE 4		11 – 19
ORGANIZATIO	DNAL STRUCTURE	
	Organogram	
	THE NATIONAL COUNCIL	
SECTION 4.3	TENURE OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERS	
SECTION 4.4	REQUIREMENTS FOR NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERSHIP	
SECTION 4.5	REQUIREMENTS FOR IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT	
SECTION 4.6	FUNCTIONS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL	
	THE EXECUTIVE	
	SPECIAL APPOINTMENTS BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL	
	SPECIAL APPOINTMENTS BY THE EXECUTIVE	
SECTION 4.10		
SECTION 4.17	1 VACANCIES	

ARTICLE 5	19 - 21
ACCOUNTABILITY, DISCIPLINE AND MEETING FREQUENCY OF COUNCIL MEMBERS SECTION 5.1 ACCOUNTABILITY SECTION 5.2 PROCESSES OF DISCIPLINE OF NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERS SECTION 5.3 MEETING FREQUENCY	
ARTICLE 6FINANCES	21- 24
Section 6.1 Fiscal Year of ANA	
Section 6.2 Source of Funds	
SECTION 6.3 DISBURSEMENT OF ANA FUNDS SECTION 6.4 ANA FINANCIAL BANK ACCOUNT SECTION 6.5 ANNUAL AUDIT OF ANA ACCOUNTS	
ARTICLE 7	24
Section 7.1 Not-For-Profit Status	
ARTICLE 8	24 -26
ARTICLE 9Section 9.1 Elections	26 - 27
Section 9.1 Elections Section 9.2 Election Procedure	
<b>ARTICLE 10</b> Section 10.1 Vacancies:	28
ARTICLE 11	28-29
SECTION 11.1 CONFLICT OF INTEREST	
ARTICLE 12Section 12.1 Dispute Resolution Procedure	29
ARTICLE 13SECTION 13.1 IMPEACHMENT AND REMOVAL FROM OFFICE	30
ARTICLE 14	31
SECTION 14.1 NOMINATION FOR PRIZES AND AWARDS	01
ARTICLE 15	31
Section 15.1 Transition Period	

ARTICLE 16Section 16.1 Processes of Amendment	31
ARTICLE 17SECTION 17.1 DISSOLUTION	32
<b>ARTICLE 18</b>	33

# PREAMBLE AND OBJECTIVES

### WHEREAS:

- 1. Asaba people of Delta State, Nigeria, residing in the United States of America:
  - (1). ARE AWARE OF THE POVERTY, WIDESPREAD DISORIENTATION OF THE ASABA PEOPLE, ETHNIC AND TRIBAL RIVALRIES IN THE STATE, DEGRADATION OF NATURAL RESOURCES AND CULTURE, LACK OF INFRASTRUCTURE AND ENABLING ENVIRONMENT FOR DEVELOPMENT.
  - (II). ARE DESIROUS TO CONTRIBUTE TO THE IMPROVEMENT OF LIVES OF THE PEOPLE WITHOUT REGARD TO GENDER, RELIGION, ETHNIC ORIGIN, TRIBE, RACE, OPINION OR POLITICAL AFFILIATION FOR A BETTER FUTURE FOR ALL THE PEOPLE.
  - (III). HAVE THE CAPABILITY TO MEANINGFULLY CONTRIBUTE TO THE PROMOTION OF RULE OF LAW, RESPECT FOR HUMAN DIGNITY, REALIZATION OF THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL GROWTH POTENTIALS OF ALL PEOPLE, ENTRENCHMENT OF ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY IN GOVERNANCE, PROMOTION OF CULTURAL AWARENESS, AND PROMOTION OF HEALTHY RELATIONSHIP WITHIN/AMONG ASABA PEOPLE HERE IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ASABA, SURROUNDING TOWNS AND VILLAGES
  - THE MEMBERS OF THIS WELL-MEANING ASSOCIATION HAVE FORMED THIS NOT-FOR-PROFIT
  - ORGANIZATION TO BE KNOWN AS ASABA NATIONAL ASSOCIATIONS USA, INC. HEREINAFTER, REFERRED TO AS ANA FOR PURPOSES AND OBJECTIVES ALLOWED UNDER SECTION
  - 501(C) (3) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF THE UNITED STATES WHICH SHALL INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING:
  - a) To educate people of Asaba on the importance of instituting enduring democratic and cultural processes and the rule of Law for the betterment of all people of Asaba.
  - b) To liaise with international organizations, or organizations located within the United States of America, Nigeria, Delta State and Asaba for purposes of pursuing the objectives of ANA
  - C) TO ORGANIZE AND OVERSEE FROM TIME TO TIME, UNILATERALLY OR JOINTLY WITH OTHER ANA LOCAL CHAPTERS, INSTITUTIONS, CORPORATIONS OR GROUPS OF WELL-MEANING INDIVIDUALS CHARITABLE EVENTS, WORKSHOPS, SEMINARS, PUBLIC LECTURES FOR THE PURPOSE OF CREATING AWARENESS AND GROWTH IN EDUCATION, HEALTH, PRESERVATION OF CULTURE AND THE GENERAL WELLBEING OF ASABA PEOPLE HERE IN THE UNITED SATES AND AT ASABA.

- d) To engage in such other programs or activities within the realm of the law that promote and preserve our cultural values, enhance diversity, lift our people from the ills of poverty and advance the objectives of **ANA**.
- e) To engage in business activity(ie) from which the proceeds are utilized for charitable purposes.

# **ARTICLE 1:**

### **SECTION 1.1 NAME OF ASSOCIATION**

- 1) THIS ASSOCIATION SHALL BE KNOWN AS ASABA NATIONAL ASSOCIATION USA, INC., (AND MAY BE ABBREVIATED AS ANA). THIS NAME SHALL BE USED FOR THE ASSOCIATION IN ALL ITS BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ITS DEALINGS WITH ANY OR ALL OF ITS MEMBER CHAPTERS, ANY GOVERNMENT, OR OTHER ORGANIZATIONS.
- 2) ANA SHALL OWN AND MAINTAIN EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO THE NAME MENTIONED ABOVE AND SHALL OWN THE TRADE MARK TO THAT NAME OR ANY LOGO THEREOF.
- 3) ANA SHALL MAINTAIN A WEBSITE OR OTHER ELECTRONIC PLATFORMS IN ITS NAME FOR OPERATIONAL NECESSITIES, AS WELL AS ITS MEANS OF COMMUNICATION AND NETWORKING; AND NO MEMBER OR OFFICIALS OF ANA OR ANY OTHER GROUP SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO APPROPRIATE THE NAME, LOGO, TRADEMARK, WEBSITE OR OTHER PLATFORMS OF THE ASSOCIATION IN WHOLE OR IN PART FOR PERSONAL USE.
- 4) The Name, Logo, trademark, website or other platforms of ANA shall be used **only** in the interest of ANA, for its purposes, and in accordance with this constitution. ANA members and officials shall be accountable for the use of its name, logo, trademark, websites and other platforms in no less strict a manner than the use of the funds of the Association.
- 5) WITHOUT DEROGATION TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS, THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT OF ANA SHALL BE THE PRINCIPAL CUSTODIAN OF THE NAME, LOGO, TRADEMARK, WEBSITE OR OTHER PLATFORMS OF ANA AND SHALL FROM TIME TO TIME ISSUE INSTRUCTIONS AND DIRECTIVES AS TO THE USE OF THESE RESOURCES, PROVIDED THAT FOR ALL INTENTS AND PURPOSES, THE USE OF THESE RESOURCES SHALL BE SOLELY IN THE INTEREST OF ANA.
- 6) Change of the name of the Association shall be treated as a fundamental transaction and shall require two-third (2/3) majority of the National Council voting at every proceeding connected with the change of name of the Association.

### SECTION 1.2 MOTTO

THE MOTTO OF THE ASSOCIATION IS "PEOPLE HELPING PEOPLE BEYOND TOMORROW".

### SECTION 1.3 MISSION STATEMENT

"TO PROMOTE ACTIVITIES WHICH ENHANCE THE GROWTH AND ADVANCEMENT OF EDUCATION, CULTURE, HUMAN SERVICES, THE ENVIRONMENT AND HEALTHCARE".

### SECTION 1.4 OFFICIAL BUSINESS ADRESS

THE OFFICIAL BUSINESS ADDRESS OF ANA SHALL BE P.O. BOX 1627, SUGARLAND, TX 77487-1627

### SECTION 1.5 CHANGE OF ADDRESS

This address may only be changed by a two-third (2/3) majority vote of the National Council.

# **ARTICLE 2:**

### SECTION 2.1 PURPOSES

ANA SHALL BE ORGANIZED EXCLUSIVELY FOR CHARITABLE, RELIGIOUS, EDUCATIONAL AND SCIENTIFIC PURPOSES, INCLUDING THE MAKING OF DISTRIBUTIONS TO ORGANIZATIONS UNDER SECTION 501C (3) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

### THE PURPOSES OF ANA SHALL BE:

- TO COMBINE THE RESOURCES OF THE VARIOUS ASABA ASSOCIATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADDRESSING AND SOLVING COMMON PROBLEMS EFFICIENTLY.
- 2) TO WORK TO ELIMINATE THE CYCLE OF DESPERATION AND POVERTY, BRINGING HOPE AND DIGNITY TO MEMBERS OF OUR COMMUNITY.
- 3) To promote understanding between communities through cultural diversity.
- 4) TO MAKE SURE THAT CHAPTER MEMBERS AND ANA OFFICIALS ABIDE BY ANA CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS.
- 5) PROMOTE EVENTS/ACTIVITIES THAT WILL ENCOURAGE THE GROWTH OF OUR CHILDREN'S KNOWLEDGE, RECOGNIZING OUR CULTURE AND ITS PRESERVATION.
- 6) PROVIDE A PLATFORM THAT WILL UTILIZE THE RESOURCES OF HER MEMBERSHIP TO ENHANCE GROWTH IN EDUCATION, CULTURE, HEALTHCARE, AND HUMAN SERVICES IN BUILDING A STRONGER COMMUNITY.
- 7) SUPPORT SCHOOLS AND NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS THAT WORK DAILY TO END THE CYCLE OF POVERTY AND DESPERATION, AND TO BRING HOPE AND DIGNITY TO EVERY MEMBER OF OUR COMMUNITY.
- 8) Build stronger communities with each person and each neighborhood we support.

- 9) No part of the Net Earnings of ANA shall inure to the Benefit of, or be distributable to its member, TRUSTEES, OR other private persons, except that ANA shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payment and distributions to further its purpose set forth in its purpose clause. No part of ANA's activities shall be disseminating propaganda or attempt to influence legislation or legislative agenda. ANA shall not participate nor intervene (including the publishing or distribution of statement) in any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office. ANA shall not engage in any activity not permitted to be carried on (a) by an association exempt from federal income tax under 501C (3) of the Internal Revenue Code or (b) an association, contributions to which are deductible under section 170 C (2) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding section of any future Federal Tax Code.
- 10) Upon dissolution, ANA's assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of section 501 C (3) of the Internal Revenue Code or the corresponding section of any future Federal Tax Code or shall be distributed to the Federal Government, or to State or Local Government for a public purpose. Any asset not liquidated shall be disposed of by the court of common pleas of the county in which the principal office of ANA is located.

# **ARTICLE 3:**

### **MEMBERSHIP:**

### **SECTION 3.1 DEFINITIONS**

MEMBERSHIP SHALL BE OPEN TO ALL ELIGIBLE ASABA ASSOCIATIONS OR UNIONS THROUGHOUT THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, REGARDLESS OF THEIR CREED, SEX, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, RELIGION, AGE, DISABILITY, EDUCATION AND POLITICAL OR ECONOMIC STATUS.

Any person interested in membership of ANA must first become a member of an affiliated chapter in his or her home State.

If an individual resides in a state without affiliated chapter, such person must become a member of an affiliated local chapter in the nearest State or City. There shall be only one chapter within a metropolitan area.

### SECTION 3.2 REQUIREMENTS FOR MEMBERSHIP

- 1) ANY CHAPTER ELIGIBLE FOR MEMBERSHIP MUST BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE REGISTRATION PROCESSES PAYMENT OF FEES, DUES, AND THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF ANA.
- 2) A CHAPTER SHALL BECOME A MEMBER OF ANA UPON PAYMENT OF REGISTRATION FEES AND DUES. A RECEIPT OF SUCH PAYMENT SHALL BE ISSUED AND RECORDED UPON PAYMENT.

### SECTION 3.3 THE CHAPTER

FOR A CHAPTER TO BE ELIGIBLE AND MAINTAIN MEMBERSHIP IN ANA, THE FOLLOWING SHALL APPLY:

- 1) Must have at least 5 active members
- 2) COMPLETE AN ANA MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION FORM
- 3) Shall be admitted into ANA during an election year.
- 4) REMAIN IN GOOD FINANCIAL STANDING (INCLUDING ALL FEES AND PENALTIES)
- 5) MEMBERSHIP OF A CHAPTER MAY BE SUSPENDED BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR CAUSE AFTER HEARING, BY A TWO-THIRDS VOTE OF THE MEMBERS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL. SUCH CHAPTER MAY BE REINSTATED BY A TWO-THIRDS VOTE OF MEMBERS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL AFTER COMPLYING WITH THE TERMS OF RESOLUTION.

### SECTION 3.4 FEES AND DUES

- 1) REGISTRATION FEE: EACH ESTABLISHED ASABA ASSOCIATION MUST PAY A ONE-TIME REGISTRATION FEE OF TWO HUNDRED-FIFTY DOLLARS (\$250.00) TO BECOME A MEMBER OF ANA. THIS IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE UPON APPROVAL BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL.
- 2) ANNUAL DUES: FOR THE PURPOSE OF MEMBERSHIP, ANA DEFINES MEMBERSHIP AS AN INDIVIDUAL AND NOT AS A COUPLE. EACH ESTABLISHED ASABA ASSOCIATION MUST PAY ANNUAL DUES AS FOLLOWS:
- a) Member Chapters with 5 10 members shall pay two hundred dollars (\$200.00) annual dues
- b) Member Chapters with 11 20 members shall pay three hundred dollars (\$300.00) annual dues

- c) Member Chapters with 21 30 members shall pay four hundred dollars (\$400.00) annual dues
- d) Member Chapters with 31-40 members shall pay five hundred dollars (\$500.00) annual dues
- e) Member Chapters with 41 50 member shall pay six hundred (\$600.00) annual dues
- f) Member Chapters with 51 60 members shall pay seven hundred dollars (\$700.00) annual dues
- g) Member Chapters with more than 60 member shall pay eight hundred dollars (\$800.00) annual dues
- 3) EACH CHAPTER SHALL SUBMIT A LIST OF THEIR MEMBERSHIP ALONG WITH THEIR DUES PAYMENT EVERY YEAR.
- 4) Annual dues are due at the Pre-summit and during the biennial National Convention. The list of Chapter members is due to the Financial Secretary by March 31<sup>st</sup> of each year.
- 5) FAILURE TO SUBMIT THE LIST OF MEMBERS BY MARCH 31<sup>ST</sup> OF EACH YEAR WOULD RESULT IN THE CHAPTER BEING BILLED AT THE 60-MEMBERS LEVEL.
- 6) On a Convention year, Convention dues shall be paid as follows: 5-20 Members-\$500 and 21 members and above-\$1000.

# **ARTICLE 4:**

ANA ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

SECTION 4.1 ORGANOGRAM



# **NOTES:**

- 1) THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR CONVENING ALL MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION AND PRESIDING OVER SAME.
- 2) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL BE THE ULTIMATE DECISION MAKING BODY OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 3) THE EXECUTIVE HAS ONLY ONE VOTE, THUS LETTING THE POWER RESIDE IN THE CHAPTERS.
- 4) This structure does away with the Board of Directors and provides a more transparent flow of information since all decisions are finalized at the National Council.
- 5) EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT, FINANCIAL SECRETARY AND TREASURER ARE ELECTED. THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT THEN PICKS OTHER REMAINING EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND PRESENTS TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR SCREENING/APPROVAL
- 6) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL APPROVES ANNUAL BUDGET PRESENTED BY THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT.
- 7) THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT SHALL APPOINT COMMITTEES (ELECTION, CONVENTION, AD HOC), AND CHAIRMAN/CHAIRPERSON OF COMMITTEES WHICH SHALL BE APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL.
- 8) ANA SHALL CONSIST OF 2 ARMS OF GOVERNMENT NAMELY: THE NATIONAL COUNCIL AND THE EXECUTIVE.

### SECTION 4.2 THE NATIONAL COUNCIL

**DEFINITION:** THE NATIONAL COUNCIL IS THE ULTIMATE DECISION MAKING ORGAN OF ANA

THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL BE MADE UP OF:

- 1) THE CHAPTER PRESIDENTS OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVES
- 2) THE IMMEDIATE PAST EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT
- 3) THE EXECUTIVE, THAT IS THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT, THE VICE-PRESIDENT, THE GENERAL SECRETARY, THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY, THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY, THE TREASURER, THE PUBLICITY SECRETARY AND THE PROVOST

### SECTION 4.3 TENURE OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERS

- 1) THE TERM OF OFFICE FOR THE CHAPTER PRESIDENTS OR HIS/HER REPRESENTATIVE SHALL BE CONSISTENT WITH HIS/HER TERM OF OFFICE AT THE LOCAL LEVEL.
- 2) THE TERM OF OFFICE FOR THE EXECUTIVE MEMBERS SHALL BE TWO YEARS, BUT ELIGIBLE UP TO TWO TERMS IN THAT OFFICE.
- 3) THE TERM OF OFFICE FOR A SPECIAL APPOINTMENT BY THE EXECUTIVE (APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL) SHALL BE AT THE COMPLETION OF THE ASSIGNED TASK OR FOR THE DURATION OF THE TERM OF THE EXECUTIVE THAT MADE THE APPOINTMENT, WHICHEVER COMES FIRST.

### SECTION 4.4 REQUIREMENTS FOR NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERSHIP

- 1) SHALL NOT HAVE ANY FELONY CASES PENDING OR BE CONVICTED OF A FELONY CRIME.
- 2) Must be an adult, be an outstanding leader in the community, and have the ability to generate resources for ANA. All members of the National Council shall continuously study and understand ANA constitution and By-Laws in order to be productive and effective members.
- 3) VACANCIES ON THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL EXIST: (1) ON THE DEATH, RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF A MEMBER (2) WHENEVER IT IS DEEMED NECESSARY TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF MEMBERS; HOWEVER, A PERSON ELECTED/APPOINTED BY THE CHAPTER OF WHICH THERE IS A VACANCY TO FILL SHALL HOLD OFFICE UNTIL THE NEXT ELECTION AT THE CHAPTER OR UNTIL HIS/HER DEATH, RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL FROM OFFICE.

- 4) Any member of the National Council may resign with resignation effective upon submission of a written notice to the National President or the National Secretary
- 5) Quorum shall consist of  $2/3^{\text{RD}}$  of the current membership present at an inperson meeting, including electronic communications, conferences via telephone or video conferencing.
- 6) MEMBERS SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR THE DEBTS, LIABILITIES OR OTHER OBLIGATIONS OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 7) ONLY CHAPTERS IN GOOD FINANCIAL STANDING SHALL BE REPRESENTED AT THE NATIONAL COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE BODY.

### SECTION 4.5 REQUIREMENTS FOR IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT

- 1) Must be an immediate past Executive President
- 2) MUST HAVE COMPLETED HIS TERM(S) IN OFFICE HONORABLY
- 3) SHALL BE A NON-VOTING MEMBER OF THE COUNCIL
- 4) SHALL ACT IN ADVISORY CAPACITY AS AN ADVISOR

### SECTION 4.6 FUNCTIONS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL

- 1) INDIVIDUALLY AND JOINTLY EMBRACE FULLY THE VISIONS OF ANA
- 2) SET THE GOALS AND OBJECTIVES OF THE ASSOCIATION AS STATED IN THE CONSTITUTION OF ANA, AND FACILITATE THE IMPLEMENTATION THEREOF.
- 3) ARRANGE FOR, ANNOUNCE AND ORGANIZE THE NATIONAL CONFERENCE BIENNIALLY WITH CONSIDERATION OF AND FOR THE INTEREST OF THE CHAPTERS AND ITS CONSTITUENTS.
- 4) SUBMIT TO THE CHAPTERS THE VENUE AND TIME FOR THE NATIONAL CONFERENCE AT LEAST NINE MONTHS BEFORE THE CONFERENCE DATE. PREPARE AND SEND IN ADVANCE A PROGRAM OF ACTIVITIES FOR EACH NATIONAL CONFERENCE NO LATER THAN THREE (3) MONTHS PRIOR TO THE CONFERENCE.
- 5) SUPERVISE ALL MATTERS PERTAINING TO THE DISCIPLINARY ACTION ON MEMBER CHAPTERS.
- 6) Have an oversight authority of all ANA Publications.

- 7) EMPOWERED TO CARRY OUT FUND RAISING EFFORT FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 8) EMPOWERED TO SET UP COOPERATION OR SUCH VENTURES THAT COULD RAISE FUNDS FOR THE WORK OF THE ASSOCIATION
- 9) EMPOWERED TO APPROVE AD-HOC COMMITTEES AS MAY BE DEEMED NECESSARY BY THE EXECUTIVE TO ENSURE THE SMOOTH RUNNING OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 10)PERFORM OTHER DUTIES AS MAY BE ASSIGNED BY THE ASSOCIATION FOR ITS SMOOTH RUNNING, AND IN THE INTEREST OF THE GENERAL MEMBERSHIP.
- 11) BE ACCOUNTABLE TO THE MEMBERSHIP OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 12) RESOLVE CONFLICTS BETWEEN CHAPTERS WITHIN THE ASSOCIATION.
- 13) REVIEW AND ADOPT ANNUAL BUDGET SUBMITTED BY THE EXECUTIVE.
- 14) Ensure that annual audit of the National account is done and may solicit professional assistance necessary to meet IRS requirements.
- A) ALL MEMBERS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL MUST BE COMMITTED TO THE PROGRESS OF ANA AND WOULD BE SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION WHEN THE FUNDAMENTAL DUE PROCESS OF CARRYING OUT DESIGNATED RESPONSIBILITIES ARE BREACHED

### SECTION 4.7 THE EXECUTIVE

**COMPOSITION:** THE EXECUTIVE SHALL CONSIST OF THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT AND MEMBERS OF HIS CABINET WHICH INCLUDE THE VICE - PRESIDENT, THE GENERAL SECRETARY, THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY, THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY, THE TREASURER, THE PUBLICITY SECRETARY AND THE PROVOST.

### 4.7.1 DUTIES/RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EXECUTIVE

- 1) THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH SHALL TRANSACT THE DAY-TO-DAY ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS OF ANA.
- 2) ENFORCE THE PROVISIONS OF ANA CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS.
- 3) DETERMINE FUNDRAISING ACTIVITIES IN CONSULTATION WITH THE NATIONAL COUNCIL.
- 4) Preside over general meeting of ANA during Council meetings or Convention.
- 5) ACT AS A CLEARING-HOUSE FOR ALL THE ACTIVITIES OF MEMBER CHAPTERS TO AVOID CONFLICTS.

- 6) Render an annual plan/budget detailing operational and fundraising activities for each year and forward to the National Council for approval by the end of February each year. It is important to note that the National Council must approve any deviations, adjustments or one-offs.
- 7) RENDER AN ANNUAL/FINANCIAL REPORT TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL BY THE END OF FEBRUARY EACH YEAR.
- 8) MAINTAIN ACCURATE RECORDS OF ALL ANA BUSINESSES, TRANSACTIONS, AND ASABA ASSOCIATIONS IN THE USA.

### 4.7.2 REQUIREMENTS FOR THE EXECUTIVE

- 1) Nominees shall not have any felony cases pending or be convicted of a felony crime.
- 2) Nominees must be of age and outstanding leaders in the community and have the ability to generate resources for ANA.
- 3) ALL MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVES SHALL CONTINUOUSLY REVIEW/STUDY AND UNDERSTAND ANA CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS IN ORDER TO BE PRODUCTIVE AND EFFECTIVE MEMBER.
- 4) VOTING SHALL BE BY SIMPLE MAJORITY.
- 5) QUORUM SHALL CONSIST OF 2/3<sup>RD</sup> (TWO—THIRDS) OF THE CURRENT MEMBERSHIP PRESENT AT AN IN-PERSON MEETING, INCLUDING ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS, CONFERENCES VIA TELEPHONE OR VIDEO CONFERENCING.
- 6) EXECUTIVES SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR DEBTS, LIABILITIES OR OTHER OBLIGATIONS OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 7) ONLY SECTIONAL ASSOCIATIONS IN GOOD FINANCIAL STANDING SHALL BE REPRESENTED.
- 8) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL RESERVES THE RIGHT TO RECALL ANY EXECUTIVE REPRESENTATIVE WHEN THE FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLE OF THE CONSTITUTION IS BREACHED.

### 4.7.3 THE PRESIDENT SHALL -

- 1) IMPLEMENT THE VISIONS OF ANA USA:
- 2) ACT AS CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE ASSOCIATION IN ALL LEGAL MATTERS, AND SHALL BE AUTHORIZED TO SIGN ALL OFFICIAL AND LEGAL DOCUMENTS.

- 3) Preside over all meetings of the National Council, Executive meetings and business meetings at the National conferences.
- 4) GIVE A NATIONAL REPORT AT BUSINESS MEETINGS.
- 5) PERFORM ANY OTHER FUNCTIONS USUAL AND CUSTOMARY FOR THE PRESIDING OFFICER, OR SUCH AS MAY BE DIRECTED BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL OF THE ASSOCIATION.

### 4.7.4 VICE PRESIDENT SHALL

- 1) PERFORM THE DUTIES OF THE PRESIDENT IN THE EVENT THE PRESIDENT IS UNABLE TO FUNCTION UNTIL THE PRESIDENT RETURNS TO DUTY, OR A NEW PRESIDENT IS ELECTED.
- 2) SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES
- 3) Perform other functions as assigned by the president of the Executive

### 4.7.5 **THE SECRETARY SHALL**

- 1) BE SECRETARY OF THE ASSOCIATION, IS THE CUSTODIAN OF ALL NON-FINANCIAL, LEGAL DOCUMENTS AND THE OFFICIAL SEAL, AND SHALL BE AUTHORIZED TO SIGN ALL OFFICIAL DOCUMENTS IN ACCORD WITH THE EXECUTIVE.
- 2) Serve as secretary of the National Council and the Executive and shall keep accurate records of all deliberations.
- 3) Make and keep true records of the proceeding of the National Conference, the Executive and the National Council meetings and shall publish the same as approved and directed by the National Council.
- 4) MAINTAIN A RECORD OF ALL MEMBER CHAPTERS, GROUPS AND INDIVIDUALS ALIKE, AND SHALL PREPARE AND DISTRIBUTE BIANNUALLY AN UP-TO-DATE DIRECTORY OF ALL MEMBERS.
- 5) GIVE NOTICE OF ALL MEETINGS AND SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL CORRESPONDENCE OF THE ASSOCIATION IN CONSULTATION WITH OTHER MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE.
- 6) Perform such other functions as are customary or as may be directed by the National Council or the Executive President.

### 4.7.6 ASSISTANT SECRETARY SHALL:

1) Assist the Secretary in Performing his/her duties.

- 2) SHALL ASSUME THE DUTIES OF THE SECRETARY IN HIS/HER ABSENCE.
- 3) IN EVENT OF THE SECRETARY'S INCAPACITATION OR DEATH, ABSENCE EXCEEDING THREE HUNDRED AND SIXTY-FIVE (365) DAYS, THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY AUTOMATICALLY BECOMES THE SECRETARY UNLESS ANOTHER INDIVIDUAL IS NOMINATED BY THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT.

### 4.7.7 TREASURER SHALL:

- 1) BE THE CUSTODIAN OF THE FINANCES OF THE ASSOCIATION
- 2) Deposit all cash and checks in the name of the Association into Association's account within three (3) business days of receipt
- 3) BE A COSIGNER IN THE NATIONAL ACCOUNT
- 4) PERFORM SUCH OTHER FUNCTIONS AS ARE CUSTOMARY TO THE OFFICE OF THE TREASURER OR AS MAY BE DIRECTED BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL.

### 4.7.8 FINANCIAL SECRETARY SHALL:

- 1) BE THE CUSTODIAN OF THE FINANCIAL RECORDS AND DOCUMENTS OF THE ASSOCIATION
- 2) RECEIVE AND RECORD CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE CHAPTERS, AND SHALL DISBURSE FUNDS UNDER THE DIRECTION OF THE EXECUTIVE OR THE NATIONAL COUNCIL;
- 3) PREPARE BUDGETS OF THE ASSOCIATION IN COLLABORATION WITH THE EXECUTIVE
- 4) ESTABLISH AND/OR MAINTAIN A RELIABLE SYSTEM OF BOOK KEEPING AND PROVIDE QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REPORT TO THE COUNCIL ON THE FIRST DAYS OF APRIL, JULY, AND OCTOBER AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT WITHIN 60 DAYS AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR.
- 5) KEEP RECORDS OF FINANCIAL TRANSACTION MADE BY THE ASSOCIATION (INCLUDING BANK STATEMENTS), AND SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR COMMUNICATING THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE ASSOCIATION TO THE MEMBERS IN CONSULTATION WITH THE NATIONAL COUNCIL AND EXECUTIVE.
- 6) COMPILE AND MAINTAIN A RECORD OF CHAPTER MEMBERSHIP.
- 7) PERFORM SUCH OTHER FUNCTIONS AS ARE CUSTOMARY TO THE OFFICE OF THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY OR AS MAY BE DIRECTED BY THE COUNCIL.
- 8) FILE ASSOCIATION TAXES EVERY YEAR AND OTHER REQUIRED STATUTORY REPORTS

### 4.7.9 Publicity Secretary/Public Relations Officer (PRO) shall:

- 1) BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DISSEMINATING INFORMATION PERTAINING TO ANA.
- 2) Shall take directives from the Executive President regarding planning, organizing and executing of all social/cultural activities approved by the Executive and/or the National Council.
- 3) SHALL SERVE AS THE HEAD OF THE SOCIO-CULTURAL COMMITTEE IF THE EXECUTIVE FORMS ONE.

### 4.7.10 THE PROVOST SHALL:

- 1) BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING TO ORDER ALL PLANNED ANA MEETINGS.
- 2) ENSURE THAT MEETINGS HAVE AN AGENDA AND ARE FOLLOWED AS PRESCRIBED.

### SECTION 4.8 SPECIAL APPOINTMENTS BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL.

THE NATIONAL COUNCIL, ONCE IT SEES THE NEED TO CREATE POSITIONS AND/OR COMMITTEES FOR THE ACCOMPLISHMENT OF THE VISION OF THE ANA SHALL:

- 1) Make such special appointments or create special ad-hoc Committees to serve the Council.
- 2) CLEARLY STATE IN WRITING THE NAME OF THE POSITION OR COMMITTEE, RESPONSIBILITIES TO BE ASSIGNED, QUALIFICATIONS REQUIRED, AND THE DURATION OF THE SAID POSITION OR COMMITTEE.
- 3) PROCEED TO FILL THE POSITION(S) FROM CANDIDATES DRAWN FROM CHAPTERS' MEMBERSHIP WHO OBVIOUSLY HAVE THE NECESSARY EXPERIENCE AND QUALIFICATION TO ACCOMPLISH THE DESIGNATED TASK(S).

### SECTION 4.9 SPECIAL APPOINTMENTS BY THE EXECUTIVE.

THE EXECUTIVE, ONCE IT SEES THE NEED TO CREATE POSITIONS AND/OR COMMITTEES FOR THE ACCOMPLISHMENT OF THE VISION OF THE ANA SHALL:

- 1) Make special appointment(s) or create ad-hoc Committee(s)
- 2) STIPULATE IN WRITING TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL THE TYPE OF APPOINTMENT, RESPONSIBILITIES TO BE ASSIGNED, QUALIFICATIONS REQUIRED, AND THE DURATION OF THE SAID POSITION FOR APPROVAL.

3) PROCEED TO FILL THE POSITION(S) FROM CANDIDATES DRAWN FROM CHAPTERS' MEMBERSHIP WHO OBVIOUSLY HAVE THE NECESSARY EXPERIENCE AND QUALIFICATION TO ACCOMPLISH THE DESIGNATED TASK(S).

### SECTION 4.10 Tenure:

TENURE FOR MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE SHALL BE TWO YEARS WITH A TWO-TERM LIMIT.

THE PAST PRESIDENT TENURE SHALL BE ONLY TWO YEARS;

### **SECTION 4.11 Vacancies:**

- 1) ANY OFFICER MAY RESIGN AT ANY TIME BY GIVING A THIRTY DAYS WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE PRESIDENT OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 2) ANY VACANCY CAUSED BY THE DEATH, RESIGNATION, REMOVAL, DISQUALIFICATION OR OTHER ACTION SHALL BE FILED BY THE PRESIDENT.
- 3) Only a Chapter has the right to recall/withdraw its representative to the National Council.

# **ARTICLE 5:**

### ACCOUNTABILITY, DISCIPLINE AND MEETING FREQUENCY OF COUNCIL MEMBERS

### SECTION 5.1 ACCOUNTABILITY

### 5.1.1 COUNCIL ACCOUNTABILITY.

- 1) EACH NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBER SHALL ATTEND ALL NATIONAL COUNCIL MEETINGS EXCEPT WITH A PROPER AND TIMELY (ONE WEEK PRIOR) NOTICE OF INTENTION OF ABSENCE COMMUNICATED TO THE CHAIRPERSON.
- 2) CHAPTER PRESIDENTS DURING NATIONAL COUNCIL MEETING SHALL PRESENT A WRITTEN REPORT OF THE CURRENT ACTIVITIES OF THEIR CHAPTER (THE FORMAT OF SUCH A REPORT SHALL BE DEVELOPED BY THE COUNCIL).
- 3) SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVES AND/OR AD-HOC COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSONS ARE REQUIRED TO MAKE PERIODIC WRITTEN REPORT TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL AS DETERMINED BY THE COUNCIL. NOTIFICATION MUST BE GIVEN AT LEAST TWO WEEKS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED EVENT DURING WHICH THE REPORT WILL BE MADE.
- 4) EACH COUNCIL MEMBER IS NOT TO USE HIS/HER OFFICE FOR PERSONAL GAINS.

### SECTION 5.2 PROCESSES OF DISCIPLINE OF NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERS

### 5.2.1 When there is a non-performance by a Council member:

- a) THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT SHALL COUNSEL WITH THE INDIVIDUAL ONE ON ONE TO FIND OUT A WAY TO HELP THE MEMBER FULFILL HIS/HER OBLIGATIONS OR LIVE UP TO HIS/HER EXPECTATIONS.
- b) If the non-performance persists, then the National Council shall set up an AD-HOC COMMITTEE TO WORK WITH THE MEMBER TO HELP HIM/HER IMPROVE ON THE SITUATION.
- c) If there is no improvement, the member's Chapter shall be notified in writing about the non-performance problem with their representative and will be asked to intervene at the Chapter Level to find resolution.
- d) If there is still no improvement, the individual in question will be invited to resign.
- e) As a final step, the National Council will terminate the person's membership and invite the Chapter to send a replacement within three months.

### 5.2.2 When there is a non-performance by the Executive President:

- a) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL SET UP AN AD-HOC COMMITTEE TO WORK WITH THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT TO HELP HIM/HER IMPROVE ON THE SITUATION
- b) If there is still no improvement, he/she shall be invited to resign.
- c) As a final step, the National Council shall terminate his/her membership to the Council and the Vice President shall assume duties of the Executive President pending an election of another individual to the office of Executive President within three months of the termination or the resignation of the former Executive President.

### SECTION 5.3 MEETING FREQUENCY

- 1) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL MEET AT LEAST TWICE A YEAR TO DISCUSS THE AFFAIRS OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 2) THE PRESIDENT SHALL CONVENE SUCH MEETING

- 3) THE ASSOCIATION SHALL HOLD A GENERAL MEETING OF ALL MEMBERS EVERY TWO YEARS. THIS MEETING SHALL BE CALLED **NATIONAL CONVENTION.**
- 4) THE MEETING SHALL BE HELD DURING MEMORIAL DAY WEEKEND OR ANY OTHER AGREED TIME DETERMINED BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL.
- 5) LOCATION OF THE NATIONAL CONVENTION SHALL BE DETERMINED DURING A GENERAL MEETING AT THE NATIONAL CONVENTION.
- 6) THE PRESENCE OF TWO-THIRDS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERSHIP AT A MEETING SHALL CONSTITUTE A QUORUM.

### SECTION 5.4 Voting during meetings

- a) Members of the National Council shall be eligible to vote on matters presented during their annual meeting. The Executive has one vote while each Chapter President or Chapter Representative has one vote. Passage shall be by a simple majority.
- b) Only Chapters in good financial standing will be eligible to vote on matters presented during the National Convention.

# **ARTICLE 6:**

### **FINANCES**

### SECTION 6.1 FISCAL YEAR OF ANA:

1) THE FISCAL YEAR OF ANA SHALL RUN FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31.

### SECTION 6.2 SOURCES OF FUND

- 1) AN ASSOCIATION SHALL PAY A REGISTRATION FEE BEFORE THEY BECOME A CHAPTER MEMBER OF ANA.
- 2) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL MAY REVISE THIS FEE WHEN IT DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE.
- 3) ANA AND A LOCAL CHAPTER SHALL HOST THE NATIONAL CONVENTION AND FUND-RAISING EVENT EVERY TWO YEARS AT THE NATIONAL CONVENTION. THIS EVENT WILL BE OPENED TO A BID AMONGST ALL MEMBER CHAPTERS. SELECTION FOR THE NEXT HOST-CITY SHALL BE MADE AT LEAST TWO YEARS IN ADVANCE.
- 4) THE DECISION TO AWARD THE HOSTING OF THE NATIONAL CONVENTION TO A CHAPTER SHALL BE BASED ON THE FINANCIAL VIABILITY OF THE HOST CHAPTER.
- 5) YEARLY DUES.

- 6) GRANTS
- 7) PROCEEDS FROM OTHER SOURCES AS DEEM FIT BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL

### SECTION 6.3 DISBURSEMENT OF ANA FUND

- 1) THE AMOUNT OF \$100.00 (ONE HUNDRED DOLLARS) SHALL BE HELD AS PETTY CASH BY THE TREASURER AND SHALL BE DISBURSED ONLY ON A WRITTEN APPROVAL BY THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT.
- 2) FOR ANY EXPENSE OF THE ASSOCIATION UP TO \$500.00, APPROVAL BY A MAJORITY VOTE OF THE EXECUTIVE SHALL BE REQUIRED. ANY REQUEST MUST BE ATTENDED WITH A WRITTEN ESTIMATE OF INTENDED EXPENSES AND WRITTEN PRICE QUOTES FROM AT LEAST THREE DIFFERENT VENDORS OF SUCH GOODS OR SERVICES MUST BE TENDERED TO THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT BEFORE THE REQUESTED FUNDS ARE DISBURSED. FUNDS SHALL NOT EXCEED THE LOWEST AMOUNT OF THE PRICE QUOTES UNLESS ANY OF THE HIGHER PRICES CAN BE JUSTIFIED.
- 3) FOR ANY EXPENSE AMOUNT MORE THAN \$500.00 THE APPROVAL OF THE MAJORITY OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERS SHALL BE REQUIRED. SUCH REQUEST MUST BE ATTENDED WITH A WRITTEN ESTIMATE OF INTENDED EXPENSES AND WRITTEN PRICE QUOTES FROM AT LEAST THREE DIFFERENT VENDORS OF SUCH GOODS OR SERVICES MUST BE TENDERED TO THE PRESIDENT FOR PRESENTATION TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL BEFORE THE REQUESTED FUNDS ARE DISBURSED. FUNDS SHALL NOT EXCEED THE LOWEST AMOUNT OF THE PRICE QUOTES UNLESS ANY OF THE HIGHER PRICES CAN BE JUSTIFIED.
- 4) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL APPROVE EXPENSES BEYOND THE ANNUAL NATIONAL BUDGET.
- 5) ALL ANA AUTHORIZED EXPENSES MUST BE ACCOUNTED FOR BY TURNING IN STATEMENT OF EXPENSES AND THE ATTENDANT RECEIPTS TO THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY.
- 6) THE TRAVEL EXPENSES OF ANA EXECUTIVE FOR ALL NATIONAL COUNCIL APPROVED EVENTS SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF ANA. SUCH EXPENSES MUST BE PRESENTED TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL BY THE PRESIDENT BEFORE IT IS INCURRED. ANTICIPATED EXPENSES SHOULD BE IN THE ANNUAL BUDGET. THIS SHALL NOT EXCEED \$500.00 (FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS). ALL EXPENSES SHALL BE BACKED BY FORMAL RECEIPTS.
- 7) FOR TRIPS OUTSIDE THE USA, THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL DELIBERATE ON THE NUMBER OF EXECUTIVE AND FUND ALLOCATION.

8) REIMBURSABLE ANA EVENTS SHALL INCLUDE ANA PRE-SUMMIT, ANA CONVENTION AND ANY OTHER SPECIAL EVENTS APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL.

### SECTION 6.4 ANA FINANCIAL BANK ACCOUNT

- 1) THE ASSOCIATION SHALL MAINTAIN A REGULAR CHECKING ACCOUNT AND, IF NEED ARISES, A SAVINGS AND/OR AN INVESTMENT ACCOUNT(S) IN A FINANCIAL INSTITUTION IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA THAT IS INSURED BY FDIC. OPENING OF SUCH ACCOUNTS SHALL BE DONE WITH THE APPROVAL OF TWO-THIRDS MAJORITY VOTE OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL MEMBERS.
- 2) THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT, THE VICE PRESIDENT, THE TREASURER, AND THE GENERAL SECRETARY SHALL BE THE SIGNATORIES TO THESE ACCOUNTS.
- 3) AT ANY GIVEN TIME, THE SIGNATURES OF THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT **OR** VICE PRESIDENT AND THE TREASURER OR THE GENERAL SECRETARY SHALL BE REQUIRED BEFORE FUNDS CAN BE WITHDRAWN FROM THE CHECKING OR SAVINGS ACCOUNTS.
- 4) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL AUTHORIZE ANY LIQUIDATION AND/OR TRANSFER OF MONIES FROM INVESTMENT ACCOUNT(S) TO THE REGULAR CHECKING ACCOUNT.

### SECTION 6.5 ANNUAL AUDIT OF ANA ACCOUNTS

- 1) THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT SHALL APPOINT A TWO OR THREE MAN **AUDIT COMMITTEE**BY THE END OF THE MONTH OF JANUARY OF EVERY YEAR FOR THE PURPOSE OF REVIEWING
  AND AUDITING THE FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES OF THE **A**SSOCIATION ACCOUNTS DURING THE
  PREVIOUS FISCAL YEAR.
- 2) THE EXECUTIVE SHALL DO EVERYTHING WITHIN ITS POWER TO ENSURE THAT ALL BOOKS AND PERTINENT RECORDS ARE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE UPON REQUEST.
- 3) THE COMMITTEE SHALL MAKE A PRELIMINARY REPORT TO THE EXECUTIVE BY THE END OF THE MONTH OF MARCH. IF THERE ARE SOME SERIOUS CONCERNS, THE AUDIT COMMITTEE SHALL ADDRESS A LETTER TO THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT LISTING ALL THE CONCERNS. THE EXECUTIVE SHALL RECONCILE ALL RECORDS AND RESPOND TO ALL CONCERNS RAISED IN WRITING.
- 4) THE AUDIT COMMITTEE SHALL MAKE A FINAL REPORT TO THE ASSOCIATION MEMBERS DURING A CALLED BUSINESS MEETING DURING THE NATIONAL CONFERENCE THAT SAME YEAR.

# **ARTICLE 7:**

### SECTION 7.1 NOT-FOR-PROFIT STATUSES:

- 1) Non-Profit Corporation: ANA shall be a voluntary, non-profit membership organization incorporated under the laws of the several states in the geographical Region of the United States of America.
- 2) DISSOLUTION OF THE ASSOCIATION: IN THE EVENT OF DISSOLUTION, THE NATIONAL COUNCIL WILL OPERATE ACCORDING TO THE INTENT OF SECTION501(C) (3) OF THE 1954 INTERNAL REVENUE CODE BY PERMANENT DEDICATION OF ITS ASSETS TO TAX EXEMPT PURPOSES.
- 3) APPROPRIATE TAX DOCUMENTS SHALL BE FILED BY THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY

# **ARTICLE 8:**

### SECTION 8.1 VENUES FOR ACTIVITIES

The term "activities" refers to all regular meetings, Committee meetings, special meetings, teleconferences, Biennial Conventions and any other events that require the formal gathering of the National Council and /or entire members of the ANA

- 1) REGULAR NATIONAL COUNCIL MEETINGS, EXECUTIVE MEETINGS, COMMITTEE MEETINGS OR TELECONFERENCES MAY BE HELD WHEREVER THE MEMBERS BY SIMPLE MAJORITY AGREE TO MEET, WITH APPROPRIATE NOTICES GIVEN TO ALL PARTICIPANTS EITHER BY MAIL, VOICE OR ELECTRONIC MEDIA.
- 2) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL FROM TIME TO TIME SET A COMPETITIVE GUIDELINE AND CRITERIA A CHAPTER MUST MEET TO QUALIFY AS A HOST CITY FOR THE BIENNIAL CONVENTION
- 3) ANA SHALL ORGANIZE BIENNIAL CONVENTIONS, WHICH MAY BE HELD IN ANY CITY THAT IS CHOSEN BY SIMPLE MAJORITY VOTE OF THE ENTIRE BODY OF ANA, PURSUANT TO THE COMPETITIVE GUIDELINES AND CRITERIA SET BY ANA FOR HOSTING A CONVENTION.
- 4) IN MAKING DETERMINATION AS TO VENUE SELECTION, THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION THE FOLLOWING FACTORS:
  - a) THE EXISTENCE OF AN ANA CHAPTER IN GOOD STANDING IN SUCH LOCALITY;
  - b) That the hosting Chapter meets the guidelines and objectives set BY THE National Council for host cities;

- c) That hosting the Biennial Convention in such designated venue does not disrupt or interfere with other activities that might negatively impact the outcome of the event.
- d) The convenience of all participating members, and opportunities for strategic contacts with other organizations, potential donors and visibility factors consistent with the efforts to promote and project ANA in such a light as to realize ANA's goals for the event.
- e) Such other logistical issues that are normally taken into consideration in carrying out successful fundraisers.
- 5) THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT SHALL APPOINT A CONVENTION COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSON, WHO SHALL WORK IN COLLABORATION WITH THE OFFICERS OF THE HOST CHAPTER TO MAP OUT A COMPREHENSIVE CONVENTION PLAN.
- 6) THE BIENNIAL CONVENTION SHALL BE ORGANIZED AND HELD WITHIN THE CITY OR WITHIN THE GEOGRAPHICAL AREA CONSTITUTING SUCH CHAPTER.
- 7) THE RESPONSIBILITY OF DETERMINING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING AND LOGISTICS OF THE EVENT SHALL LIE ON THE EXECUTIVE, THE CONVENTION COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSON IN COLLABORATION WITH THE OFFICERS OF THE HOSTING CHAPTER.
- 8) THE BIENNIAL CONVENTION SHALL BE FUNDED BY ANA AND THE HOSTING CHAPTER AT A COST RATIO OF 70 PERCENT TO ANA AND 30 PERCENT TO THE CHAPTER.
- 9) PROFIT SHALL BE SHARED IN A RATIO OF 70 PERCENT TO ANA, 20 PERCENT TO HOSTING CHAPTER AND 10 PERCENT SHARED TO ALL OTHER FINANCIALLY ACTIVE CHAPTERS OF ANA.
- 10)IN THE EVENT A BID TO HOST THE BIENNIAL CONVENTION IS NOT RECEIVED FROM ANY LOCAL CHAPTER OR THE SUBMITTED BIDS FAIL TO MEET THE HOSTING GUIDELINE AND CRITERIA, THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL CALL FOR A MEETING TO SELECT ALTERNATIVE LOCATION.
- 11)IN THIS REGARD, THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL SELECT TWO (2) CITIES THAT MEET THE COMPETITIVE GUIDELINE AND CRITERIA AS STIPULATED; AND A FINAL SELECTION OF VENUE SHALL BE BY A SIMPLE MAJORITY VOTE OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL.
- 12) In the event of item 11, ANA shall fund the Convention and keep all the profit.
  - **NOTE -** SELECTION FOR THE NEXT HOST CITY SHALL BE MADE AT LEAST 2 YEARS IN ADVANCE.

# **ARTICLE 9:**

### SECTION 9.1 ELECTIONS

- 1) AN ELECTION COMMITTEE AND THE CHAIRMAN SHALL BE NOMINATED BY THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT AND APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL COUNCIL NOT LATER THAN LAST DAY OF AUGUST OF THE YEAR PRECEDING THE ELECTION.
- 2) A ROSTER OF MEMBERSHIP SHALL BE SENT BY THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY TO THE ELECTION COMMITTEE.
- 3) THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT SHALL BE ELECTED BY SECRET BALLOT BY ALL MEMBERS OF ANA, SO ALSO THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY AND THE TREASURER, FOR ACCOUNTABILITY.
- 4) THE PRESIDENT SHALL APPOINT THE REST OF HIS EXECUTIVE. THE NAMES OF MEMBERS OF HIS APPOINTED EXECUTIVE MUST BE LISTED IN HIS LETTER OF INTENT SENT TO THE ELECTION COMMITTEE FOR VETTING
  - a) VICE PRESIDENT
  - b) General Secretary
  - c) Assistant General Secretary
  - d) PRO
  - e) Provost
- 5) Those vying for office shall be approved by the National Council and not by the Election Committee.

### SECTION 9.2 ELECTION PROCEDURES

- 1) ALL INTERESTED PERSONS WISHING TO CONTEST FOR THE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT, THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY AND THE TREASURER SHALL DECLARE THEIR INTENT BY NOVEMBER  $30^{\text{TH}}$  OF THE YEAR PROCEEDING THE ELECTION YEAR
- 2) ANA SHALL HOLD ITS ELECTION OF EXECUTIVE EVERY TWO YEARS DURING ITS NATIONAL CONVENTION OR DURING A SPECIAL SESSION APPROVED BY 2/3 NATIONAL COUNCIL
- 3) CANDIDATES VYING FOR OFFICE IN ANA MUST BE OF LEGAL AGE AND IN GOOD FINANCIAL STANDING WITH THEIR CHAPTER
- 4) NO CHAPTER PRESIDENT OR ITS REPRESENTATIVE ON THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL AT THE SAME TIME BE A MEMBER OF ANA EXECUTIVE.

- 5) ELECTION SHALL BE BY SECRET BALLOT BY ALL QUALIFIED ANA MEMBERS, CONDUCTED AT THE CHAPTER LEVEL
- 6) ALL BALLOTS SHALL BE SEALED AND PRESENTED AT THE NATIONAL CONVENTION. NO CHAPTER SHALL COUNT THE VOTE BEFORE DELIVERY TO THE ELECTION COMMITTEE.
- 7) THE ELECTION COMMITTEE APPOINTED BY THE PRESIDENT SHALL CERTIFY THE CANDIDATES BEFORE COMMENCEMENT OF CAMPAIGN NO LATER THAN JANUARY 31<sup>ST</sup> OF ELECTION YEAR
- 8) THE ELECTION COMMITTEE SHALL CIRCULATE THE NAMES OF NOMINEES TO ALL CHAPTERS AT LEAST SIXTY DAYS BEFORE THE ANNUAL CONVENTION
- 9) A CANDIDATE VYING FOR OFFICE IN ANA MUST BE IN GOOD FINANCIAL STANDING, BE A CHAPTER MEMBER AND MUST BE APPROVED BY THE CHAPTER
- 10) Candidate vying for office must file intent to ANA election committee through their Chapter by November  $30^{\text{th}}$  of the year in which the National Convention is held.
- 11)ONLY CHAPTERS IN GOOD FINANCIAL STANDING SHALL SUBMIT NAME OF CANDIDATE WHO IS INTERESTED IN RUNNING FOR AN ANA OFFICE TO THE ELECTION COMMITTEE NO LATER THAN JANUARY 31<sup>ST</sup> BEFORE THE ELECTION DATE
- 12)OFFICIAL CAMPAIGN FOR AN ELECTIVE OFFICE IN ANA SHALL BEGIN THREE MONTHS PRIOR TO ANA NATIONAL CONVENTION DURING WHICH A CANDIDATE SHALL PRESENT A PLAN OF ACTION (MANIFESTO) TO ALL CHAPTERS.
- 13)THERE SHALL BE NO LIMITS ON THE NUMBER OF CANDIDATES CAMPAIGNING FOR AN OFFICE
- 14) IN THE EVENT THAT THERE IS A TIE, CANDIDATES SHALL BE GIVEN OPPORTUNITY TO CANVASS FOR VOTES AND THEN A FRESH VOTE SHALL BE TAKEN UNTIL AN OFFICER IS ELECTED
- 15) ALL VOTING SHALL BE RECORDED IN NUMERICAL FIGURES, ITEMIZES AS FOLLOWS
- a) Number of votes for the winner
- b) Number of votes against
- c) Number of unstained votes.

# **Article 10:**

### SECTION 10.1 VACANCIES

- 1) Where the office of a member of the Executive other than the Executive President becomes vacant for whatsoever reason before the expiration of THE TERM of office, the Executive body may appoint any qualifying ANA member to fill such vacancy. Provided that person so appointed meets all conditions for contesting election for such office, and such appointee will remain in office only for the period remaining out of the term of the vacant position
- 2) Where the office of the Executive President becomes vacant for any reason whatsoever, the Vice-President shall automatically assume the responsibilities of the Executive President for the remaining term period.

# **Article 11:**

### SECTION 11.1 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- CONFLICT OF INTEREST MAY OCCUR WHERE AN ANA MEMBER OR OFFICER'S PERSONAL INTERESTS, BELIEFS OR CONDUCT INTERFERE WITH THE PERFORMANCE OF SUCH PERSON'S DUTIES IN OPERATIONAL, ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGERIAL, VOLUNTARY OR SUPERVISORY CAPACITY
- 2) ANA Members and officers must avoid conducts that may result in a conflict of interest with the association. All officers of ANA must avoid financial or personal interests that may compromise the impartial performance of their duties. Members and officers in particular are obligated to disclose issues that may cause a potential conflict of interest to the association.
- 3) IN THE EVENT THAT IT IS DETERMINED THAT CONFLICT OF INTEREST EXISTS, THE MATTER MUST BE REFERRED TO THE EXECUTIVE BODY FOR HANDLING. IF MATTER IS NOT RESOLVED, THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT SHALL FORWARD THE MATTER TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR A FINAL DISPOSITION.
- 4) If the matter is before the Executive body the Executive President shall preside over the proceeding and in the absence of the Executive President the Vice President shall preside.
- 5) IF THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST PERTAINS TO THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT, THEN THE MATTER MUST BE REFERRED TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR HANDLING, WITH A MEMBER OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL OTHER THAN THE PRESIDENT TO PRESIDE.

# Article 12:

### SECTION 12.1 DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE

- 1) THE EXECUTIVE HAS THE ORDINARY RESPONSIBILITY FOR SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES OR DISAGREEMENTS BETWEEN OFFICERS, MEMBERS AND CHAPTERS, WHERE SUCH DISPUTES OR DISAGREEMENTS ARISES IN CONNECTION WITH MATTERS COVERED IN THIS CONSTITUTION, OR OTHERWISE IN CONNECTION WITH THE PERFORMANCE OF FUNCTIONS OR ENJOYMENT OF RIGHTS ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS CONSTITUTION.
- 2) IN PERFORMANCE OF ITS RESPONSIBILITY UNDER THIS CONSTITUTION, THE EXECUTIVE BODY SHALL SEEK THE ADVICE OF THE CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE, EXCEPT WHERE THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE DISPUTE AND RESOLUTION THEREOF ARE SUCH THAT IT WOULD BE REASONABLE TO EXCUSE THE ADVICE OF THE CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE
- 3) THE POWER OF THE EXECUTIVE TO RESOLVE DISPUTES INCLUDES THE POWER TO CALL FOR A MEETING OF THE MEMBERS OR CHAPTER INVOLVED WHERE THE CHAPTER HAS FAILED TO REACH A RESOLUTION. WHERE THE EXECUTIVE CALLS FOR RESOLUTION MEETING, IT MAY SELECT THE VENUE AND MAY DIRECT ANY MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE WHO IS DEEMED CAPABLE TO PRESIDE OVER SUCH A MEETING. IF A RESOLUTION IS NOT REACHED, THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT SHALL THEN CALL FOR A NATIONAL COUNCIL SESSION FOR A FINAL DISPOSITION.
- 4) In a dispute between Chapters, the Executive shall call for a meeting of the members of the Chapters and the Executive President shall preside over the meeting and attempt to resolve the dispute.
- 5) Where the Executive body is unable to resolve the dispute, the matter shall be referred to National Council.
- 6) Under no circumstance shall a member or a Chapter resort to, or proceed with a legal action without first exhausting all avenues of conflict resolution within ANA

# Article 13:

### SECTION 13.1 IMPEACHMENT AND REMOVAL FROM OFFICE

- 1) ELECTED OFFICIALS MAY ONLY BE IMPEACHED FOR CAUSE, SUBJECT TO TWO THIRD (2/3<sup>RD</sup>) MAJORITY VOTE OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL
- 2) APPOINTED REPRESENTATIVES MAY BE IMPEACHED FOR CAUSE, SUBJECT TO SIMPLE MAJORITY VOTE OF THE PRESIDING BODY; OR REMOVED BY THE RECALL OF THE REPRESENTED CHAPTER.

- 3) IN RESPECT OF DECISIONS INVOLVING THE REMOVAL OR IMPEACHMENT OF ANY OFFICER OR REPRESENTATIVE OF ANA, THE OFFICER OR REPRESENTATIVE WHOSE REMOVAL IS SORT SHALL BE GIVEN ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO PREPARE AN EXPLANATION AND PRESENT ANY DEFENSE PROVIDED THAT THE RIGHT TO PRESENT SUCH DEFENSE DOES NOT INCLUDE THE RIGHT TO CALL WITNESSES OR RETAIN LEGAL COUNSEL.
- 4) NO ONE SHALL PRESIDE OVER IMPEACHMENT OR REMOVAL PROCEEDINGS IF SUCH PERSON IS THE TARGET OF THE PROCEEDING.
- 5) A NATIONAL COMMITTEE SHALL BE CREATED BY THE EXECUTIVE WITH THE RESPONSIBILITY OF PREPARING AN AGENDA AND HEARING A CASE. THE DECISIONS OF THE NATIONAL HEARING COMMITTEE SHALL BE BY SIMPLE MAJORITY
- 6) THE NATIONAL HEARING COMMITTEE SHALL HAVE THE FOLLOWING FUNCTIONS:
  - a. IMPEACHMENT AND REMOVAL FROM OFFICE OF ANY OFFICER OF ANA, INCLUDING CHAPTER REPRESENTATIVES, AD HOC AND STANDING COMMITTEE MEMBERS;
  - b. Hearing appeals of any officer of ANA, provided that the person tendering such appeal has sent a written petition signed by at least 50 members of ANA within 30 days of the original decision to the attention of the National Committee Chairperson for reconsideration.
  - c. Hearing of Disputes between Chapters or Chapter members. Disputes between members and chapters shall be heard by the committee; provided that the complaining party has duly tabled the complaint before the National Hearing Committee and such complaint is deemed fit for national deliberation. Party tabling complaint before the committee must agree to be bound by a simple majority vote of the committee.

# **ARTICLE 14:**

### SECTION 14.1 NORMINATION FOR PRIZE AND AWARDS

ANA SHALL HONOR DESERVING INDIVIDUALS WHO HAVE RECOGNIZABLY CONTRIBUTED IMMENSELY TO ACHIEVING THE SET OBJECTIVES OF ANA IN TWO YEARS PRECEDING THE NATIONAL CONVENTION.

THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT SHALL CALL FOR NOMINATIONS NOT LATER THAN SIX MONTHS BEFORE THE NATIONAL CONVENTION

# **ARTICLE 15:**

### SECTION 15.1 TRANSITION PERIOD

1) THE TRANSFER OF ANA BELONGINGS TO INCOMING EXECUTIVE OFFICERS SHALL BE COMPLETED NOT LATER THAN 60 DAYS AFTER ELECTION. SUCH ITEMS WILL INCLUDE, BUT NOT LIMITED TO ACCOUNT(S), MINUTE OF MEETINGS, WEB-SITES, ALL FINANCIAL REPORTS, LOGOS, COMPUTERS AND SEAL.

# **ARTICLE 16:**

### SECTION 16.1 PROCESSES OF AMENDMENT

ANY INDIVIDUAL MEMBER OR LOCAL CHAPTER, EXECUTIVE BODY MAY PROPOSE AN AMENDMENT TO THE **ANA** CONSTITUTION AS LONG AS SUCH PROPOSED AMENDMENT IS:

- 1) FORWARDED IN WRITING TO THE **ANA** EXECUTIVE BODY, WITH COPIES TO ALL LOCAL CHAPTERS;
- 2) Upon receipt of written Proposed amendment, the ANA executive body shall begin deliberations within 10 days of receipt and shall forward the proposed amendment to the National Council not later than 30 days of receipt;
- 3) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL SHALL DELIBERATE ON THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT AND SHALL BY SIMPLE MAJORITY VOTE, CARRY THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT FOR FURTHER DELIBERATION BEFORE THE GENERAL HOUSE DURING THE BIENNIAL CONVENTION OR VIA EMERGENCY TELECONFERENCE MEETING OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL CALLED BY THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT.
- 4) To amend any part(s) of ANA Constitution/By–Laws, a proposed amendment must come before the national council for consideration and approval by two thirds majority vote of the members present at the deliberation
- 5) TO BECOME EFFECTIVE, SUCH AMENDMENT MUST BE AFFIRMED AND ADOPTED BY TWO-THIRD MAJORITY VOTE OF NATIONAL COUNCIL. NOTE: VOTING MEMBERS MUST BE IN GOOD FINANCIAL STANDING WITH ANA.
- 6) ALL VOTING SHALL BE CONDUCTED BY AN OPEN BALLOT AND COUNTS RECORDED IN THE GENERAL MINUTE REGISTRY.
- 7) A TWO-THIRD MAJORITY VOTE MUST BE OBTAINED TO AFFECT AN AMENDMENT.
- 8) Any amendment so ratified shall automatically become an integral part of the constitution

# **Chart of Procedural Motions**

PRESENTATION	NO	NO	NO
ADOPTION VOTE	YES	NO	TWO-THIRD VOTE
To AMEND	YES	YES	TWO-THIRD VOTE
CLEAR	YES	NO	TWO-THIRD VOTE
UNDERSTANDING			
OF AMENDMENT			
<b>V</b> оте то	YES	NO	TWO-THIRD VOTE
<b>DECLARE NULL</b>			
AND VOID			
CALL FOR	YES	YES	TWO-THIRD VOTE
<b>A</b> MENDMENT			
VOTE			

# **ARTICLE 17:**

### SECTION 19.1 DISSOLUTION

- 1) THE NATIONAL COUNCIL MUST ADOPT A RESOLUTION RECOMMENDING THE DISSOLUTION OF THE ASSOCIATION, AND DIRECT THAT THE QUESTION OF SUCH DISSOLUTION BE SUBMITTED TO A VOTE AT A MEETING OF ENTIRE MEMBERS OF ANA HAVING VOTING RIGHTS. AT THE MEETING FOR THE DISSOLUTION OF ANA, A QUORUM MUST BE PRESENT, AND AT LEAST 2/3 OF THE VOTES OF MEMBERS PRESENT, MUST APPROVE THE RESOLUTION TO DISSOLVE THE ASSOCIATION
- 2) ONCE THE RESOLUTION TO DISSOLVE ANA IS ADOPTED, ANA MUST CEASE THE CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS, EXCEPT AS NECESSARY FOR THE WINDING UP OF THE ASSOCIATION.
- 3) AFTER ADOPTING THE RESOLUTION, ANA EXECUTIVE MUST IMMEDIATELY SEND NOTICE OF THE PROPOSED DISSOLUTION TO KNOWN CREDITORS AND CLAIMANTS; IF ANA'S PROPERTY AND ASSETS ARE SUFFICIENT TO SATISFY THE DEBTS AND LIABILITIES, THEN ANA EXECUTIVE MUST PAY THOSE OBLIGATIONS AND ANY REMAINING ASSETS SHALL BE DISTRIBUTED ONLY FOR TAX-EXEMPT PURPOSES TO ONE OR MORE ORGANIZATIONS THAT ARE EXEMPT UNDER 501(C) (3), 170(C) (1) OR 170(C) (2) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.
- 4) In the even assets held by the ANA require return, transfer, or conveyance, upon
  - DISSOLUTION, SUCH ASSETS SHALL BE RETURNED, TRANSFERRED, OR CONVEYED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 2/3 VOTES OF THE ENTIRE MEMBERS OF **ANA** OR AS REQUIRED BY LAW UPON DISSOLUTION.

# **ARTICLE 18:**

### **SECTION 18.1 REVOCATION**

ALL PRIOR BY-LAWS AND AMENDMENT(S) THERETO ARE REvoked and shall become null and void immediately upon the adoption of these by-laws.

# **OATH OF ALLEGIANCE**

**NOW THEREFORE**, WE, THE MEMBERS OF **ANA** WILLING TO ABIDE AND BE BOUND HEREUNDER, DO HEREBY CONFER UPON OURSELVES FOR OURSELVES THIS CONSTITUTION AND ASSOCIATED BY-LAWS.

SIGNED AND ADOPTED THIS DAY OF	, 20
Mr. Fabian Oweazim	
CONSTITUTION REVIEW COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN	
Mr. Victor Kwentua	
EXECUTIVE GENERAL SECRETARY	
OGBUESHI NGOZI OKOTCHA	
EXECUTIVE NATIONAL PRESIDENT	

# As Reviewed and Amended on \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2015 By Constitution Review and Amendment Committee Members:

Mr. Fabian Oweazim – Chairman

MR. LAWRENCE OKOLO – SECRETARY GENERAL

MRS. BARBARA AZINGE - ANINYE - MEMBER

MR. VICTOR KWENTUA- MEMBER

### FIRST AMENDED IN MAY 2008:

By Constitution Amendment Committee Members:

MR. HENRY BUMI AJAYI – CHAIRMAN

MR. LAWRENCE OKOLO – SECRETARY GENERAL

Ogbueshi Alfred Nwokobia – Member

Mr. Harrold Azinge – Member

MRS. PATRICIA AZINGE – MEMBER